GUIDELINES for HR and ORGANIZATIONAL MANAGEMENT

SECTIO	ON1: HUMAN RESOURCE POLICY
SECTIO	ON 2:. PERSONNEL POLICY4
1.	Employee Benefit Policy4
2.	RECRUITMENT POLICY4
3.	Performance Evaluation Policy:5
3.1	Rationale for Evaluation:
3.2	Performance Evaluation categories:6
3.3	Performance Evaluation Officer:
3.4	Evaluation Review Panel:7
3.5	Employee Appeals:7
3.6	Benefits of Performance Evaluation Policy7
3.7	Performance Evaluation Framework7
4.	GENDER POLICY
5.	SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY9
5. 5.1.	SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY
5.1.	What Constitutes Sexual Harassment9
5.1. 5.2	What Constitutes Sexual Harassment
5.1. 5.2 5.3	What Constitutes Sexual Harassment
5.1. 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5	What Constitutes Sexual Harassment
5.1. 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5	What Constitutes Sexual Harassment
5.1. 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6	What Constitutes Sexual Harassment
5.1. 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6 5.7	What Constitutes Sexual Harassment
 5.1. 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6 5.7 5.8 6. 	What Constitutes Sexual Harassment
 5.1. 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6 5.7 5.8 6. 6.1. 	What Constitutes Sexual Harassment.9Employee Responsibilities:9Supervisor Responsibilities.9Complaint Process.10Prohibition against Retaliation.10False Accusations and Information.10Confidentiality.10Disciplinary Action.10GRIEVANCE SETTLEMENT POLICY.11

Contents

The Pak	xistan Centre for Philanthropy
7.	DISCIPLINARY ACTION POLICY:
7.1	Rationale12
7.2	Procedures13
7.3	Policy Action13
8.	CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY:
8.1	Avoiding Conflict of Interest in Individual Cases14
8.2	Avoiding Conflicting of Interest in Organisational Cases14
SECTION	ON 3:. ADMINISTRATION POLICIES15
1.	PROCUREMENT POLICY15
1.1.	Methods of Procurement15
1.2.	Benefits of a Procurement Policy16
1.3.	Ethical Guidelines17
2.	TRAVEL POLICY17
2.1.	Domestic Travel17
2.2.	International Travel18
2.3.	Office Transportation & Vehicle Maintenance18
2.4.	Vehicle Inspection and Maintenance Procedure18
3.	ASSET DISPOSAL POLICY19
3.1.	NPO seeking Tax Exemption18
	Appendix A20

Section 1

HUMAN RESOURCE POLICY

The objective of having a Human Resource policy is to have clearly drawn out rules of how an organisation is to be run, the procedures for daily operations, and interactions of employees with the organisation. It should reflect the organisation's values and business. In short the idea is to forge a relationship between the organisation and the employee.

Broadly, a Human Resource Policy should include policies on;

- a) Personnel,
- b) Finance, and;
- c) Administration.

A well-stipulated HR policy can effectively increase an organisation's performance.

Section 2

PERSONNEL POLICY

Mentioned below are some of the necessary policies that are included in a personnel policy

- 1. Employee Benefit Policy
- 2. Recruitment Policy
- 3. Performance Evaluation Policy
- 4. Gender Policy
- 5. Sexual Harassment Policy
- 6. Grievance Settlement Policy
- 7. Disciplinary Action Policy
- 8. Conflict of Interest Policy

1. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT POLICY:

Essential ingredients of the Employee Benefit Policy include;

- a) staff remuneration packages,
- b) entitlement of provident fund, severance or gratuity,
- c) medical allowances,
- d) insurance coverage, etc.

Clearly defined rules for long term and contractual positions (these can also be both short and long term) are essential to avoid or minimise any employee grievances. Clearly laid out policies result in transparency and effectiveness leaving no or little room for discretionary authority.

The most important element of the recruitment process is to ensure transparency and fairness without any bias and favouritism and gender discrimination in the hiring process. This can only be ensured when there exists clearly laid down criteria and procedures for recruitment of staff and consultants. Some of the standard practices for recruitment include proper hiring mechanisms through advertising, indiscriminate head hunting and using the database of credible recruitment agencies (this is in vogue in all developed countries). Once applications are received short listing through independent sources or cross checking through reference checks or under an already laid down eligibility performa followed by tests and interviews by a panel are some of the effective ways of recruitment. In short any such policy that ensures transparency and a non-partisan approach can be termed as a fair recruitment policy.

Mentioned below is a brief overview of how various hierarchical positions can be appointed within an organisation;

2.1 The operational head of the organisation i.e. the Chief Executive, or General Manger or Executive Director which ever may be the case should be appointed by the Governing Body of the Organisation¹.

2.2 All managerial level positions e.g. Administration, Finance, Operations, Policy & Research etc should be made by the Head of the organisation in consultation with the Chairman of the Governing Body.

2.3 For recruitment at any mid-level managerial position it should be mandatory that an advertisement is posted at any one of the National Dailies. Short listing should be done against a laid out criteria and tests/interviews need to be conducted by a panel of officials' senior than the positions advertised. It is preferred to have at least one board member on the interviewing panel along with the head of the organisation.

2.4 For entry level/junior positions selection can be made through head hunting, posting the position on the web, through circulation of posts to various relevant organisations etc. The interview panel for such positions should constitute at least one managerial level position. The idea is to ensure that the process is transparent and fair.

2.5 All appointments should be made, clearly indicating the terms of reference and conditions of employment. The letter of employment has to be addressed to the employee and a copy signed by the employee has to be kept in official record.

2.6 Similar procedure should be followed for consultants and interns.

 $^{1\ {\}rm In}$ accordance with the structure of the organisation this Governing Body might be the Board of Directors/Governors/ Trustees.

3. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION POLICY:

Performance evaluation policy seeks to promote professional growth and development and assure quality performance from all staff members.

It is the supervisor's continuing responsibility to improve employee's work through regular evaluation of their performance. It is important to have all appraisals in written form and a record need to be maintained on yearly basis. These evaluations need to be based on the performance parameters of each employee vis-à-vis his or her Terms of Reference (ToRs). ToRs should be well defined and be mutually agreed upon by both the employee and the employer. The ToRs also serve as parameters against which appraisals can be made.

Similarly committees can be formed to assess for various positions based on the hierarchy of the organisations. There is an essential need for close monitoring and scrutiny of staff members on yearly basis and a similar criterion need to be adopted for promotions, internal transfers and increments within the organisation.

3.1 Rationale for Evaluation

The rationale for evaluation is as follows;

- a) To encourage employee to participate actively in improving operations and standard of work around the office.
- b) To provide incentives for exceptionally high quality work performance by the individual and to maintain the quality of performance.
- c) To encourage and subsequently reward new ideas and suggestions which eventually would lead to more efficient office environment.
- d) To reward major accomplishment attired by an individual which assisted in achieving the organisation's objectives. Recognizing commendatory and outstanding work performances.

3.2 **Performance Evaluation categories**

The four performance rating categories on the personnel evaluation form for employees are;

Exemplary

Performance is consistently exceptional in meeting performance criteria demonstrated by providing extraordinary opportunities for programme success through institutionalised strategies that confirm the employee's expertise and the ability to extract successful results.

Exceeds Standards

Performance is consistently above average in meeting performance criteria demonstrated by going beyond the established standards and instructional practices in reaching all students.

Meets Standards

Performance is consistently adequate in meeting performance criteria.

<u>Unsatisfactory</u>

Performance is not consistently acceptable in meeting performance criteria.

3.3 Performance Evaluation Officer

The performance evaluation officer should be the immediate supervisor, head of section or any such officer who is specifically assigned to undertake the task of evaluation. His/her responsibilities include but are not limited to;

- a) To ensure thoroughness, impartiality, objectivity and soundness during the evaluation process and comply with the laid down criteria of the evaluation instructions.
- b) To ensure whether the employee has received adequate information of the evaluation process and guidelines.
- c) To clarify to the employee the duties of the position and the requirements for satisfactory performance at the beginning of the rating period.
- d) To discuss the strengths, weaknesses, and ways to improve performance with each employee at the end of the rating period and on as and when need basis.
- e) To register his/her observations/comments, duly signed and forwarded to the head of the section/organisation for his/her signature and information in a sealed envelope.
- f) The report after being signed by the Head² of the organisation is forwarded to the personnel office in a sealed envelope marked

 $^{2^{2}\}mbox{The Performance evaluation of the Head of the Organisation is conducted by the Board, and duly signed by the Chairperson of the Board$

"Performance Evaluation Report" to ensure confidentiality of the report.

3.4 Evaluation Review Panel

The function of the Panel is to review all performance evaluation reports that are termed "unsatisfactory" and also review employee appeals if any, against the overall rating of the evaluation. The Panel should include the Evaluating officer, the Head of the organisation and one other senior level officer to ensure transparency.

3.5 **Employee Appeals**

- a) Appeals are limited to the overall rating in the performance evaluation report. If after discussing the disagreement with the reporting officer, the employee is still dissatisfied, the employee should submit a written appeal to the head of his/her section, and in case where the head of section is the reviewing officer the appeal should be submitted to the head of the personnel section or the head of the organisation within seven calendar days following receipt of copy of the performance evaluation report.
- b) The appeal should indicate the reason for dissatisfaction with the rating and suggest the remedy. The competent officer should review the case, determine the grievance, convene a meeting of the review panel and place the entire case before it.

3.6 Benefits of Performance Evaluation Policy

Listed below are some of the benefits of a performance evaluation policy;

- a) Helps regulate and monitor work performances for all employees, and maintain an efficient level of performance.
- b) Recognises employee's achievements for exemplary output

- d) Helps strengthen the employee supervisor relationship.
- e) Assist in identifying training and developmental needs of the employees.

3.7 **Performance Evaluation Framework**

The performance evaluation framework draws the guidelines against which evaluation needs to be done. It should contain benchmarks³ for the four category ratings (see section 3.2), which is a quantitative process of evaluation. Similarly it should contain various parameters and sub parameters (e.g. personal abilities, attitudes and performance outputs) against which a quantitative evaluation can be made. There should be reserved space where the employee could give a brief description of his performance, output and suggestions for improvement related to work and training needs etc. Comments in the end from the evaluating officer at the end would summarise the whole evaluation exercise. (A Performance Evaluation form is attached as Appendix-A to this manual)

4. GENDER POLICY:

Unlawful discrimination undermines the integrity of the employment relationship, compromises equal employment opportunity, debilitates morale and interferes with work productivity. The objective of a gender policy is to provide a work place free from unlawful discrimination, which includes discrimination based upon sex, race, creed, colour, ancestry, age, marital status, or familial status. The policy should apply to all employees of the organization. Unlike other HR policies this policy applies to conduct which occurs not only in the workplace but also extends to conduct which occurs at any location that can be reasonably regarded as an extension of the workplace, such as any field location, any off-site business-related social function, or any facility where work of the organization is being conducted and discussed.

An effective gender policy pertains to all employment practices such as recruitment, selection, hiring, training, promotion, transfer, assignment, layoff, return from layoff, termination, compensation, fringe benefits, working conditions and career development etc.

 $^{3^{3}}$ Each organisation can assign different benchmarks according to the nature of work, need and requirement.

Examples of Gender Discrimination include;

- a) Discriminating against an individual with regard to terms and conditions of employment because of that individual's race, gender, age, religion, disability, affectional or sexual orientation, place of origin, or his/her ancestor's place of origin.
- b) Treating an individual differently because of race, gender, age, religion, disability, affectional or sexual orientation, place of origin, or his or her ancestors' place of origin, or because an individual has the physical, cultural or linguistic characteristics of a racial or national origin group.
- c) Treating an individual differently because of marriage to or association with persons of a racial, religious or national origin group; or due to membership in or association with an organization identified with the interests of a racial, religious or national origin group; or because an individual's name or spouse's name is associated with a racial, religious or national origin group.
- d) Calling another by an unwanted nickname which refers to one or more of the above characteristics, or telling ethnic jokes which harass an employee or create a hostile work environment.
- e) Using derogatory references regarding any of the above characteristics in any job-related communication.
- f) Engaging in threatening, intimidating, or hostile acts, in the workplace, based on the foregoing classifications.

g) Displaying or distributing material in the workplace that contains language or images that are derogatory or demeaning, based upon any of the foregoing classifications.

5. SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY:

Sexual Harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favours, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when, for example;

- a) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment;
- b) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual; or
- c) such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.

5.1 What Constitutes Sexual Harassment

Behaviours that may constitute sexual harassment include but are not limited to;

- a) Generalized gender-based remarks and comments.
- b) Unwanted physical contact such as intentional touching, grabbing, pinching, brushing against another's body or impeding or blocking movement.

- c) Verbal or written sexually suggestive or obscene comments, jokes or propositions including letters, notes, e-mail, invitations, gestures or inappropriate comments about a person's clothing.
- d) Visual contact, such as leering or staring at another's body, gesturing, displaying sexually suggestive objects, cartoons, posters, magazines or pictures of scantily clad individuals.
- e) Explicit or implicit suggestions of sex by a supervisor or manager in return for a favourable employment action such as hiring, compensation, promotion, or retention.
- f) Suggesting or implying that failure to accept a request for a date or sex would result in an adverse employment consequence with respect to any employment practice such as performance evaluations or promotional opportunity.
- g) Continuing to engage in certain behaviours of a sexual nature after an objection has been raised by the target of such inappropriate behaviour.

5.2 Employee Responsibilities

Any employee who believes that she/he has been subjected to any form of prohibited discrimination/harassment, including sexual harassment, or who witnesses others being subjected to such harassment or discrimination is encouraged to promptly report the incident(s) to either their supervisor or manager or directly to the head of the organization. All employees are expected to cooperate with investigations undertaken and failure to cooperate in an investigation should result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

5.3 Supervisor Responsibilities

Supervisors should make every effort to maintain a work environment that is free from any form of prohibited discrimination/harassment. Supervisors are expected to take all allegations of discrimination/harassment, including sexual harassment, seriously, and to immediately refer the matter to the head of section or organisation.

5.4 Complaint Process

In order to implement these policies it is imperative for each organization to have in place procedures for reporting, investigating, and where appropriate, remediating claims of discrimination/harassment. The organisation can designate an individual or individuals to receive complaints of discrimination/harassment, including sexual harassment, investigate such complaints, and recommend appropriate remediation of such complaints.

All investigations of discrimination/harassment claims should be conducted in a way that respects, to the extent possible, the privacy of all the persons involved. Investigations should be conducted in a prompt, thorough and impartial manner. The results of the investigation should be forwarded to the head of section or organisation to make a final decision as to whether a violation of the policy has been substantiated.

Where discrimination/harassment is found to have occurred, the organisation should take prompt and appropriate remedial action to stop the discrimination/harassment and deter its reoccurrence.

The remedial action taken may include counselling, training, intervention, mediation, and/or the initiation of disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

The organization should maintain a written record of the discrimination/harassment complaints received. Written records will be maintained as confidential records to the extent practicable and appropriate.

5.5 Prohibition against Retaliation

Retaliation against any employee who alleges that she/he was the victim of discrimination/harassment, or against any employee who provides information in the course of an investigation into claims of unlawful discrimination/harassment in the workplace should be prohibited under this policy. Any employee bringing a complaint, providing information for an investigation, or testifying in any proceeding under this policy should not be subjected to adverse employment consequences based upon such involvement or be the subject of retaliation.

5.6 False Accusations and Information

If any employee knowingly makes a false accusation of unlawful discrimination/harassment or knowingly provides false information in the course of an investigation of a complaint should be dealt with breach of conduct and be grounded for strict disciplinary action. However, complaints made in good faith, even if found to be unsubstantiated, should not be considered a false accusation.

5.7 Confidentiality

All complaints and investigations should be handled, to the extent possible, in a manner that will protect the privacy interests of those involved. To the extent practical and appropriate under the circumstances, confidentiality should be maintained throughout the investigation process. In the course of an investigation it may be necessary to discuss the claims with the alleged harasser and other persons who may have relevant knowledge. It therefore may be necessary to disclose information to persons with a legitimate need to know about the matter. All persons interviewed should be directed not to discuss any aspect of the investigation with others in light of the important privacy interests of all concerned. Failure to comply with this confidentiality directive may result in disciplinary action.

5.8 Disciplinary Action

Any employee found to have violated this policy might be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, which may include; suspension, reassignment, or termination of employment. Referral to another appropriate authority for review for possible violation of Federal or Provincial Law may also be appropriate.

6. GRIEVANCE SETTLEMENT POLICY:

The purpose of adopting this policy is to promote the internal settlement of any controversy or claim pertaining to employment actions, which may arise between salaried employees and management. It is intended to provide an equitable and timely method for the final disposition of such issues.

6.1 Definition

A "grievance" is defined as an employee's expression of alleged unfair or inequitable treatment with respect to the application of policies, procedures, and regulations, which he/she has been unable to resolve with his/her immediate supervisor.

Examples of staff grievances include failure to receive eligible vacation, holidays, or overtime compensation as specifically mentioned in the HR Policy. Judgments such as salary increases, salary range, or classification assignments to jobs are not considered violations of human resources policies. These types of complaints should be handled through established procedures laid out in each organisation's HR policy manual.

6.2 PROCEDURE

An employee filing a grievance shall have at every "step" the right to present witnesses and evidence to support his/her grievance. Since the processing of a grievance is not a legal matter attorneys may not represent either the employee filing a grievance or the Organisation. Employees are not to be penalized in any way for proper use of the Grievance Procedure. Time spent in grievance discussions with the administration would be considered time worked with pay.

Step 1

Any employee who wishes to file a grievance shall first discuss his/her grievance with his/her immediate supervisor. After the aforementioned discussion with the employee, the supervisor shall have five (5) working days in which to reply to the employee's grievance. If the supervisor fails to reply to the grievance or if his/her answer is not satisfactory to the employee, the employee may present his/her grievance at Step 2.

Step 2

If the disposition of the grievance in Step 1 is not acceptable, the employee shall, within five (5) working days, prepare a written statement stating the basis for the grievance and a requested settlement. He/she shall then discuss his/her problem with the Section Head or Finance & Administration Head (in cases where the section head is the direct supervisor), who shall have five (5) working days in which to present a written reply to the employee's complaint. If a mutually acceptable settlement cannot be reached, the employee will have five (5) working days in which to present his/her grievance in Step 3. The grievant should process his/her grievance to Step 3 through the office of Head of the Organisation.

Step 3

If the disposition of the grievance in Step 2 is not acceptable and the employee wishes to have the grievance considered further, he/she shall notify a representative appointed by the Head of the organization. The incumbent representative will investigate the allegations and make arrangements to hear the employee's complaint and the departmental charges if any. He/she shall provide a written response to the employee within five (5) working days of the receipt of the grievance. If the response

is not acceptable to the employee the grievance may be processed to Step 4 through the head of the Organisation.

Step 4

If the disposition of the grievance in Step 3 is not acceptable to the employee and he/she wishes to have the grievance given further consideration, he/she shall notify the Head of the organisation in writing to that effect. It is up to the discretion of the Head of organization to either investigate the allegation on his/her own or constitute a panel to hear out the grievant. Grievance processed to Step 4 shall be reviewed and a response shall be provided to the grievant within thirty (30) days.

6.3 **Exceptional Cases**

In exceptional cases where the Head of Section or Senior Level Officials reporting directly to the Organisational Head, wishes to file a grievance shall first discuss his/her grievance with the Organisational Head. If the Organisational Head fails to reply to the grievance or if his/her answer is not satisfactory to the employee, the officer may present his/her grievance to the board member nominated by the Chairperson of the board. Grievances processed under such circumstances shall be reviewed and a response shall be provided within thirty (30) days.

7. DISCIPLINARY ACTION POLICY:

The purpose of this policy is to provide a fair, open, uniform, and objective means of correcting and improving employee behaviour and work performance in the unlikely event that such is required.

7.1 Rationale

Disciplinary action is intended to correct improper employee behaviour and improve employee work performance. To be effective, a policy of this nature must consider the nature of the offence, the past record of the offending employee, and the penalty appropriate to the offence. Section heads should exhaust every means at their disposal to improve behaviour and unsatisfactory work performance. In the few instances where employees exhibit no interest in improving their work behaviour or work performance, discharge is appropriate.

7.2 Procedures

Acts or omissions on the part of employees which are symptomatic of behaviour or work habits which can be corrected or improved (for example; absenteeism, tardiness, poor work performance, etc.) should be dealt with through a series of reprimands which should include, at a minimum, a verbal warning, and a written warning prior to dismissal.

Acts or omissions on the part of employees, which are symptomatic of incorrigible and intolerable behaviour, should, when recognized, result in suspension without pay pending investigation. Such acts, include, but are not limited to;

a) Disorderly conduct within organisation's premises.

- c) Refusal to accept instructions including failure to perform work assigned.
- d) Being under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs within organisation's premises (including refusal to submit to drug testing after suffering an accident or injury on the job).
- e) Theft or commission of any other crime within organisation's premises.
- f) Unauthorized possession of firearms within organisation's premises.
- g) Acts of moral turpitude, significant employee error, breach of civil or criminal law which tends to bring discredit to the organisation.

7.3 Policy Action

When the investigation⁴ confirms employee guilt, discharge is appropriate. In case of suspension, the unit head should notify the Finance & Administration Office of the circumstances surrounding the disciplinary action.

8. CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY:

A conflict of interest is simply a situation in which an individual has two separate and competing interests and it is unclear which interest will win out if it comes down to it. Another term we can use for this, which is equally descriptive but without the negative connotation is "duality of interest". An example of a conflict of interest is a board member whose brother runs a print shop that could potentially print materials for the organization.

Similarly conflict of interest also applies for organisations, where duality of interests may arise. It is therefore pertinent that organisations do not promote any interest or agenda other than laid down in their declared charter. Examples may include but are not limited to;

- a) Disseminating political agenda of any political party or group.
- b) Promoting messages of a certain sect or religious organisation.
- c) Promoting any such messages that is harmful to the society in large and creating disharmony among the people.
- d) Undertaking any such activity, to derive any specific profit or gain, directly or indirectly, under the umbrella of a Nonprofit Organisation.

8.1 AVOIDING CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN INDIVIDUAL CASES

^{4&}lt;sup>4</sup> Investigation can be undertaken internally using similar method as mentioned in the "steps" of the grievance policy.

When anyone joins the board or staff it should be mandatory that the individual completes a duality of interest form that lists any individual or organization that the nonprofit might be dealing with and the individual has an outside relationship with. Better yet, discuss possible conflicts during the recruitment process. Conflicts need not prevent from joining, but they should be transparent from the start. A new board member or staff must sign a pledge that she will disclose any conflicts of interest and keep the best interests of the organization in mind as long as she serves the organisation.

8.2 Avoiding Conflicting of Interest in Organisational Cases

It should be mandatory that the Nonprofit Organisation make public its charter as well as all activities it wishes to undertake. The Organisation should take an undertaking (e.g. fill the duality of interest form) that all its functions would be limited to its charter and open for public scrutiny at all points in time. That the organisation will not undertake any such activity as mentioned above in section 8.

ADMINISTRATION POLICIES

Mentioned below are some of the polices that need to be included in an Administrative Policy;

- a) Procurement Policy
- b) Travel Policy
- c) Asset Disposal Policy

1. PROCUREMENT POLICY:

Procurement policy deals with the procedures for procurement of office essentials and equipment. The purpose of this policy is to ensure that financial honesty is assured by prescribing a range of appropriate methods for purchasing and procurement, including, where appropriate, a competitive tendering and contracting process. Two main principles that apply are; the requirement for impartiality and fairness across all stages of the tendering and purchasing process, and; the necessity for obtaining the best possible value for money.

1.1 Methods of Procurement

Goods or services may be acquired through one of the following options;

- a) Direct Purchase from a company/supplier. This includes cash transactions, credit card purchases, quick orders and cheque payments.
- b) Written quotation.
- c) Call for Expressions of Interest

a) Direct Purchase

Purchases less than Rs. Xxxxx may be purchased to best advantage without quotations subject to the following conditions;

- rates should be reasonable and consistent with normal a) market rates for items of a like nature
- requirements should not be split into components or b) succession of orders for the same goods or service for the purpose of enabling the goods or service to be obtained under the Rs. Xxxxx limit
- procurement should be approved by Manager Finance C)

b) Written quotation

For purchases greater than Rs. Xxxxx but less than Rs. Xxxxx at least one written quotation should be obtained subject to the following conditions;

- a) Rates should be reasonable and consistent with normal market rates for items of similar nature.
- Requirements should not be split into components or b) succession of orders for the same goods or services for the purpose of enabling the goods/service to be obtained under the Rs. Xxxxx limit.
- For purchases greater than Rs. Xxxxx but less than Rs. C) Xxxxx a minimum of three written quotes² must be obtained and must be based on a written outline of specifications which has been provided to the suppliers. Purchase of this size should be approved by the head of the Organisation.
- For purchases that are considered high risk and over Rs. d) Xxxxx consideration should be given to undertaking a Competitive Tendering and Contracting (CTC) process. This should include documentation of a written brief or outline of specifications for the purchase. Such purchases should be approved by the Chairman of the Board.

Call for Expressions of Interest

Expressions of Interest/Request for Proposals (Competitive Tendering and Contracting) Procedures. Expressions of Interest (EOI) and Requests for Proposals (RFP) consist of procedures that are intermediate between obtaining written quotations and seeking tenders. It is generally used to cull an initial field of probable competitors who can provide innovative solutions to leading edge, or emerging issues within a given industry (e.g. a creative, or technological solution). Generally such purchases fall in the Rs. Xxxxx and above categories;

- a) In the case of requests for Proposals or Expressions of Interest, a detailed overview of the product or service concept that is required is prepared and forwarded, usually with a covering letter, to a number of identified suppliers who are invited to submit written proposals.
- Similarly, requests For Proposals/Expressions Of Interest b) can be announced in a variety of advertising mediums to

c)

²Three written guotations do not have to be obtained where the goods or services are proprietary (held under patent, trademark or copyright), or are only obtainable from fewer than three suppliers.

achieve greatest exposure to potential contractors and tenderers.

c) Under this arrangement, the Organisation is subsequently able to negotiate variations to the specification with a preferred supplier.

1.2 Benefits of a Procurement Policy

As a consequence of adhering to this policy, the organisation will;

- a) Obtain the best value for its purchases, in both cost and quality terms.
- b) Have a fast and efficient purchasing process; demonstrate financial probity and accountability to its clients, stakeholders and the public interest.
- c) Successfully manage and prevent the potential for conflicts of interest.
- d) Monitor and evaluate performance in purchasing and procurement. Be protected from complaints and legal actions mounted by potential suppliers who believe they have not received fair treatment.
- 1.3 Ethical Guidelines

No matter how transparent or fool proof an arrangement may be its success lies in the behaviour of the officer(s) in-charge and his or her intention in following the laid down procedures and regulations. The set of rules laid below can serve as a guideline for any purchasing officer.

- a) The best value for the organisation's goods and services must be sought.
- b) There will be a documented process for all purchases, which allows for transparency of decisions and review of purchases.
- c) The conduct of procurement is subject to continuous auditing by the organisation and by external bodies such as the Board, Audit Officer and Stakeholders.
- d) Staff will ensure that they are not, or are not perceived to be in a conflict of interest with any supplier.
- e) Those staff who have, or may be perceived to have, a vested interest in the outcome of a purchase should disclose any conflict to their supervisor and discuss whether they should exclude themselves from any role in the purchase.
- f) Staff will be suitably skilled and qualified to attend to the completion of their purchasing and contracting role(s).

2. TRAVEL POLICY:

The objective of having a clearly laid down travel policy is to minimise the programme expenditure incurred on travel and to have an effective system in place so as to prevent misuse of funds and official transport.

2.1 **Domestic Travel**

a) Air travel should be on economy class only.

b) Prior approval of Manager Finance & Administration or Head of the organisation should be obtained for all travel/tour schedules on the prescribed form before the commencement of the tour.

c) All travel requests should be through the Travel Authorisation Form.

d) Availability of funds within the appropriate budget line must be ensured before approving the travel authorisation.

e) Travel advance should be taken from the office up to three days before commencement of travel.

f) All travel expense claims should be made through a memo and addressed to Finance Department and shall be supported by original receipts. Used tickets and boarding card stubs should be handed over to Admin. Department within five working days of returning to the office.

g) Account should be settled within five working days of returning to the office. In case the accounts are not settled within the stipulated time then the advance will be settled against the salary of the employee for that month.

2.2 International Travel

- a) Travel authorisation should be submitted to the Administration & Finance Section at least 14 days before actual travel dates, after obtaining approval of the chairperson of the board.
- b) Travel mode should be Economy Class.
- c) The Section should explore for all possible routes available from destination to destination.
- d) All travel expense claims should be made through a memo and addressed to Administration & Finance Section and shall be supported by original receipts. Used tickets and boarding card stubs should be handed over to the section within five working days of returning to the office.
- e) Account should be settled within ten working days of returning to the office. In case the accounts are not settled within the stipulated time then the advance would be settled against the salary of the employee for that month.
- f) All donor requirements relating to international travel should be adhered to.

2.3 Office Transportation & Vehicle Maintenance

a) Office transportation should be used for official purposes only.

b) Private/unauthorised use should be strictly prohibited and any staff member found guilty need to be warned/penalised.

c) All vehicles should maintain separate log books in which travel details and distance should be logged by the driver and verified by the requester. The logbook should be closed daily, signed by the driver and verified by the Administration Department.

c) Administration department should also prepare monthly consumption report indicating average monthly consumption and charging to the respective projects at a specified rate.

2.4 Vehicle Inspection and Maintenance Procedure

- a) The primary responsibility of maintaining the office vehicle would be of the assigned driver.
 - b) All office vehicles should be checked on weekly basis.
- c) Details along with receipts of all repairs and maintenance of each vehicle should be duly entered in the Vehicle Maintenance Record Sheet.

3. ASSET DISPOSAL POLICY:

Asset Disposal Policy⁶ deals with the procedures for disposal of office essentials, equipment and vehicles. The purpose of this policy is to ensure that financial honesty is assured by prescribing a range of appropriate methods for disposal of assets, including, where appropriate, a competitive tendering and contracting process. Two main principles that apply are; the requirement for impartiality and fairness across all stages of the tendering and purchasing process, and; the necessity for obtaining the best possible value for money.

3.1 NPO seeking Tax Exemption

For all NPOs seeking tax exemptions it is mandatory that they have a clearly laid out policy on disposal of assets. Since, under the Income Tax Rules 2002, Sub-Rule (1) of Rule (213) if an NPO is being dissolved it should transfer all its assets, after clearing its liabilities, to another approved NPO. The dissolved NPO under the law has three months within which the transfer of assets should be completed under intimation to the Commissioner Income Tax. Disposal/transfer of assets can therefore only take place when policy is in place.

 $^{6^6}$ Similar procedures mentioned in procurement policy can be adopted.

	PERFORMANCE REVIEW					
Review Period: Review Date:						
to						
Employee's Name:	Reporting Officer's Name:					
Title:	Title:					
CURRENT OBJECTIVES						
	Percent of Job					
EMPLOYEE C	OMMENTS ON CURRENT JOB DESCRIPTION					
Rating:	Employee's average rating:					
	D'S COMMENTS ON CURRENT IOD DESCRIPTION					
REPORTING OFFICER'S COMMENTS ON CURRENT JOB DESCRIPTION						

Rating:

Reporting Officer's average rating:

SKILLS TABLE

Competency	Employee Rating							Reporting Officer Rating					
	1	2	3	4	5	n/a	1	2	3	4	5	n/a	
Problem solving	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Ŷ	/	
Decision making	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Ŷ	/	
Long-term thinking	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	
Results oriented	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	
Organisation and prioritisation	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	
Flexibility and change management	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	
Organisational representation	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	
Communication	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	
Conflict management	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	
Self-confidence	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Ŷ	/	
Integrity and reliability	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Υ	/	Ŷ	Υ	Υ	Υ	Ŷ	/	

EMPLOYEE COMMENTS:

REPORTING OFFICER COMMENTS:

Rating S	Rating Scale			
5.0	Exceptional performance beyond all position requirements			
4.5	Consistently exceeds all position requirements			

OVERALL RATINGS

EMPLOYEE OVERALL RATING:

EMPLOYEE COMMENTS ON RATING

REPORTING OFFICER OVERALL RATING:

REPORTING OFFICER COMMENTS ON RATING

SIGNATURES

Employee

Date

Date

Reporting Officer

Executive Director's Comments

Signatures

Date